IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA NOV 23 1992

12-

CLERK, SUPREME COURL

SID J. WHITE

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

H

DAVID JOSEPH MEHL,)
Petitioner,	
vs.	CASE NO.: 80,492
STATE OF FLORIDA,) District Court of Appeal) 5th District - No. 91-186
Respondent.) 5th District - NO. 91-186

..... 🎽 Ŧ

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

FLEM K. WHITED, III LAMBERT & WHITED 630 North Wild Olive, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (904) 253-7856 Florida Bar No.: 0271071

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

7

The Defendant was involved in a motor vehicle accident. As a result of serious injuries sustained in the accident, the Defendant was taken to Orlando Regional Medical Center for treatment. There, at the request of law enforcement, the treating trauma physician took a sample of the Defendant's blood for testing purposes. The sample of blood was sent to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement for testing. The analyst, Dr. Wayne Duer, reported a blood alcohol level of 0.10%. The Defendant was subsequently charged with the third degree felony of Driving Under the Influence causing serious bodily injury, a violation of s. 316.193(3)(c)2., Fla. Stat.

The Defendant then filed several motions to exclude the results of the blood test, including the motion which is the subject of this appeal. That motion was based on the failure of the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (HRS) to comply with the requirements set forth in s. 316.1932(1)(f)1., Fla. Stat. As pertinent, s. 316.1932(1)(f)1. requires that:

The tests determining the weight of alcohol in the defendant's blood or breath shall be administered at the request of a law substantially officer enforcement in accordance with rules and regulations which shall have been adopted by [HRS]. Such rules and regulations shall be adopted after public hearing, shall specify precisely the test or approved tests which are by [HRS] for and reliability of result facility of administration, and shall provide an approved method of administration which shall be followed in all such tests given under this section. (emphasis supplied)

Specifically, the Defendant's motion argued that HRS had failed to

adopt rules and regulations which provided an approved method of administration to be followed in blood tests given pursuant to the implied consent statute.

At the hearing on the motion, the State did not dispute the fact that HRS rules and regulations failed to prescribe the required method of administration. (Tr. 50) The State also did not dispute that the requirements of s. 316.1932(1)(f) governed the administration of the Defendant's blood test. Instead, the State argued that, even if HRS failed to comply with the requirements of s. 316.1932, this failure did not result in a violation of the Defendant's of due process and equal protection.¹

At the hearing on the motion, Dr. Wayne Duer testified that, as part of the licensing procedure, HRS rules and regulations required him as the permittee to submit the specific method which he performed to the Division of Implied Consent. (Tr. 25) Dr. Duer further testified that HRS licensed two general types of blood tests, enzymatic and gas chromatographic, (Tr. 26) but that the permittee, and not HRS, prescribed the method to be used in performing each test. (Tr. 25-26) Dr. Duer acknowledged that HRS did not prescribe the steps to be followed in performing the tests but that Dr. Duer instead relied on his previous toxicology

¹The Defendant's motion alleged that such a violation did occur as an additional basis for exclusion of the test results. This appeal, however, is predicated on the alleged statutory violation and does not depend on any previously alleged constitutional violations. See <u>State v. Bender</u>, 382 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1980); <u>State v. Reisner</u>, 584 So.2d 141 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 591 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1991).

training to perform the procedure. (Tr. 44) Dr. Duer further acknowledged that HRS had no rules or regulations pertaining to the maintenance, calibration, testing, and repairs of gas chromatographs. (Tr. 47) In fact, HRS did not provide a method for checking the accuracy of the testing apparatus. The only check on accuracy was through the licensing procedures whereby permittees were required to test and submit blood samples to HRS. (Tr. 49)

٦

The trial court granted the Defendant's motion to suppress on the basis that s. 316.1932(1)(f) required HRS to prescribe the method of administration of blood tests and that HRS had failed to prescribe such method. (Tr. 55)

On appeal the State, apparently for the first time, argued that the State should have been allowed to offer the blood test results using standard evidentiary rules. Additionally, the State raised the new argument that s. 316.1933 was the applicable statute and not s. 316.1932.

Section 316.1933(1) provides that, notwithstanding any recognized ability of the Defendant to refuse to submit to testing under s. 316.1932, when a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the Defendant, while under the influence, operated a motor vehicle which caused death or serious bodily injury, the officer may use reasonable force to require the Defendant to submit to the administration of a blood test.² In

²The State argued that these requirements were established at the hearing; however, at the hearing on this motion, no evidence concerning probable cause was presented. Apparently, the State was referring to the Defendant's earlier unsuccessful motion to suppress based on the lack of probable cause.

addition to restricting those who may withdraw blood, s. 316.1933 provides that:

Ŧ

A chemical analysis of the person's blood to determine the alcoholic content thereof must have been performed substantially in accordance with methods approved by [HRS] and by an individual possessing a valid permit issued by [HRS] for this purpose. [HRS] may approve satisfactory techniques or methods, ascertain the qualifications and competence of individuals to conduct such analyses, and issue permits which will be subject to termination or revocation at the discretion of [HRS]. (emphasis supplied)

S. 316.1933(2)(b), Fla. Stat. Thus, s. 316.1933, when read alone, does not require HRS to <u>adopt</u> rules approving the method, but merely provides that HRS <u>may approve</u> such methods.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order. <u>State v. Mehl</u>, 17 FLW D1952 (Fla. 5th DCA Aug. 21, 1992). Citing <u>State v. Burke</u>, 599 So.2d 1339 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev. denied, No. 80,169 (Fla. Nov. 12, 1992), the court held that HRS had substantially complied with s. 316.1932(1)(f) by adopting rules for blood alcohol testing as contained in rules 10D-42.028-.030 of the Florida Administrative Code. <u>Mehl</u>, 17 FLW at D1953.

Alternatively, the court held that the requirements of s. 316.1933 applied to the Defendant's case and not those of s. 316.1932. The court noted that the language of s. 316.1933(2)(b) did not parallel the language of s. 316.1932(1)(f)1. and concluded that:

> "Perhaps the legislature perceived a substantive distinction between the procedure that should be followed in developing the rules for testing blood where the power to undertake this physical invasion was "implied"

by statute as a condition of obtaining a driver's license and the procedure deemed appropriate where law enforcement has probable cause to believe the driver had caused death or serious injury through driving under the influence of alcohol."

<u>Mehl</u>, 17 FLW at D1953.

Finally, citing <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 17 FLW S454 (Fla. July 16, 1992), the court held that the "trial court erred in not affording the state an opportunity to attempt to introduce the defendant's blood test results using traditional evidentiary techniques." <u>Mehl</u>, 17 FLW at D1953.

The court then certified the following questions to the Florida Supreme Court:

CAN THE STATE INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.1934 BLOOD SAMPLE TESTS RESULTS EVEN THOUGH HRS HAS NOT ADOPTED RULES GOVERNING TESTING AND MAINTENANCE OF EQUIPMENT APPROVED FOR USE IN THE TESTING OF BLOOD SAMPLES?

CAN THE STATE INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.1934 BLOOD SAMPLE TEST RESULTS CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE HRS RULES PROMULGATED AS 10D-42.028, ET SEQ.?

Mehl, 17 FLW at D1954.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The judgment of the Fifth District Court of Appeal should be reversed, and the order of the trial court upheld, because:

 The district court erred in holding that HRS had substantially complied with the requirements of s. 316.1932(1)(f) by adopting the rules for blood testing contained in rules 10D-42.028-0.030 of the Florida Administrative Code.

2) The district court erred in holding that the requirements of s. 316.1933 applied to the Defendant's case instead of s. 316.1932 and that under s. 316.1933 HRS was not required to promulgate rules providing an approved method of administration for blood tests performed pursuant thereto.

ARGUMENT

Initially, the Defendant takes issue with the district court's conclusion that HRS has substantially complied with s. 316.1932(1)(f) by adopting rules for blood alcohol testing as contained in rules 10D-42.028-.030 of the Florida Administrative Code.

In <u>State v. Burke</u>, 599 So.2d 1339 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), rev. denied, No. 80,169 (Fla. Nov. 12, 1992), the court indicated that, under s. 316.1932(1)(f), the admissibility of blood alcohol test results should be decided based on "whether substantial compliance with the rules and regulations has taken place." 599 So.2d 15 1342. Relying on <u>Burke</u>, the district court in this case held that HRS had substantially complied with s. 316.1932(1)(f).

This Court rejected a similar analysis in the recent decision of <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 17 FLW S454 (Fla. July 16, 1992). In <u>Robertson</u>, the defendant objected to the admission of the results of blood alcohol tests on the basis that the State had failed to comply with the requirements of the implied consent statute in that the person who performed the tests was not certified by HRS. The district court held that, despite this deviation, the State had substantially complied with the statute.

The Supreme Court rejected this conclusion, noting that the plain terms of the statute required the person conducting the test to have an HRS permit. The Court further noted that the "substantial compliance" clauses contained in s. 316.1933(2)(b) and s. 316.1934(3) by their own terms applied only to the "methods

approved by [HRS]" and the "approved techniques and actual testing procedures." 17 FLW at S455. The "substantial compliance" clause did not refer to the statutes' requirement that the individual conducting the test possess a valid permit.

As pertinent, s. 316.1932(1)(f)1. requires that:

The tests determining the weight of alcohol in the defendant's blood or breath shall be administered at the request of a law officer substantially enforcement in accordance with rules and regulations which shall have been adopted by [HRS]. Such rules and regulations shall be adopted after public hearing, shall specify precisely the test or [HRS] for which are approved by tests of reliability resultand facility of administration, and shall provide an approved method of administration which shall be followed in all such tests given under this section.

Section 316.1933(2)(b) provides that:

A chemical analysis of the person's blood to determine the alcoholic content thereof must have been performed substantially in accordance with methods approved by [HRS] and by an individual possessing a valid permit issued by [HRS] for this purpose. [HRS] may approve satisfactory techniques or methods, ascertain the qualifications and competence of individuals to conduct such analyses, and issue permits which will be subject to termination or revocation at the discretion of [HRS].

As the Supreme Court has pointed out, s. 316.1934(3) further cautions that:

A chemical analysis of a person's blood to determine alcoholic content . . . , in order to be considered valid under the provisions of this section, must have been performed substantially in accordance with methods approved by [HRS] and by an individual possessing a valid permit issued by [HRS] for this purpose. Any insubstantial differences between approved techniques and actual testing procedures in any individual case shall not render the test or test results invalid.

substantial Clearly, the compliance clauses of s. 316.1932(1)(f)1., s. 316.1933(2)(b), and s. 316.1934(3) refer only to the requirement that the blood test be performed substantially in accordance with methods approved by HRS. See Robertson, 17 FLW at S455. The substantial compliance clause does not refer to the requirement of s. 316.1932(1)(f)1. that HRS adopt rules and regulations after public hearing providing an approved method of administration to be followed in all tests given under that section.

Where no statutory ambiguity exists, the language of the statute may not be varied beyond its plain meaning. <u>Id</u>. In fact, the usual rule is that "[c]riminal statutes are to be construed strictly and in favor of the accused." <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 526 So.2d 58, 59 (Fla. 1988) (citing s. 775.021(1)). See also <u>Albritton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 561 So.2d 19, 20 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Under these authorities, therefore, HRS must actually comply with the requirements of s. 316.1932(1)(f)1. by promulgating rules and regulations approving the method of administration to be followed in blood tests given pursuant to the implied consent statute. "Substantial compliance" is not the standard.

The question then becomes whether HRS has complied with the requirement that it adopt a rule approving a method (or methods) of administration. In <u>State v. Reisner</u>, 584 So.2d 141 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 591 So.2d 184 (Fla. 1991), the court held that s.

316.1932(1)(f)1. required HRS to formally promulgate rules approving and specifying the specific technology and methods to be used in performing chemical tests pursuant to Florida's implied consent law. 584 So.2d at 145. The Defendant would submit that HRS has utterly failed to comply with this requirement. As the district court correctly pointed out, HRS has promulgated rules 10D-42.028-.030 relative to the testing of blood for alcohol content under the implied consent statute. Rule 10D-42.029 relates to the labelling, collecting, and storage of blood samples, while Rule 10D-42.030 contains the application procedures for blood alcohol testing permits.

Rule 10D-42.028 authorizes two procedures for the testing of blood: alcohol dehydrogenase and gas chromatography. While this rule meets the requirement of s. 316.1932(1)(f)1. that HRS "specify precisely the test or tests which are approved by [HRS]," the rule fails to meet the additional requirement of approving a method to be followed in administering the approved tests.

Rule 10D-42.0211 of the Florida Administrative Code defines methods as "a set of instructions detailing the proper operation of an instrument or the procedure used to analyze for a specific compound." While Rule 10D-42.028 may specify the approved procedures, the rules contains no set of instructions detailing the procedures used to analyze for alcohol or detailing the proper operation of any instruments used in performing such procedures.

Rule 10D-42.030, relating to permitting procedures, requires the permit applicant to provide HRS with a description of the

procedure used by the applicant in determining the alcohol content of blood samples. Apparently, the State and the district court believed that, by adopting this rule, HRS had complied with the statute's directive to adopt a rule approving the method of administering the test. Instead of providing an approved method of administration, however, the rule effectively allows each applicant to choose his own method. At the hearing, Dr. Duer acknowledged that his chosen method was the result of his previous toxicology training (Tr. 44), and not the result of any rules or regulations promulgated by HRS.

A similar situation existed in <u>State v. Peters</u>, 729 S.W.2d 243 (Mo. App. 1987). In <u>Peters</u>, the implied consent statute directed the state health department to adopt rules approving "satisfactory techniques, devices, equipment, or methods to conduct tests" under the statute. <u>Id</u>. at 245 (quoting Mo. Rev. Stat. s. 577.026(2)). Instead, the department's regulations, as part of the permit procedure, required the applicant to supply his own analytical method for the department's approval. Rejecting the state's argument that the regulations effectively approved the method, the court noted that

> [t]his tortured argument would result in a situation in which the department of health has delegated its responsibility to the...permittee. This conclusion is contrary to the clear and redundant statutory language which requires a specific approval of methods by the department of health.

Id.

Section 316.1932(1)(f)1. is unambiguous; it directs HRS to

adopt rules and regulations providing an approved method of administering blood tests under the statute. In holding that HRS's current practice of allowing each applicant to submit his own method for approval somehow complies with this statutory directive, the district court has varied the statutory language well beyond its plain meaning.

Alternatively, the district court held that s. 316.1933, and not s. 316.1932, applied to the present case and that the terms of s. 316.1933 required a different procedure. <u>Mehl</u>, 17 FLW at D1953. Noting that s. 316.1933(2) (and s. 316.1934(3)) required "that a chemical analysis of a person's blood be performed substantially in accordance with methods *approved* [not 'adopted'] by HRS," the court found that:

> This [was] exactly the procedure that was followed in these cases. HRS had approved the specific method proposed by [Dr. Duer] in his application and had issued a permit to him to conduct blood analysis using that specific method.

<u>Id</u>.

Apparently, the court concluded that s. 316.1933 applied because the Defendant's initial motion to suppress challenged the law enforcement officer's probable cause to believe that serious bodily injury had resulted from the accident. 17 FLW at D1954 n.2. Assuming the court is correct in this conclusion, the Defendant strongly disagrees with the court's additional conclusion that s. 316.1933 somehow mandates a different procedure for determining the admissibility of blood test results from the procedure required under s. 316.1932. As Judge Diamantis stated in a separate concurrence, "[t]here is no rational basis to draw a distinction between blood tests in a section 316.1932 DUI case and a section 316.1933 case of driving a motor vehicle while under the influence causing death or serious bodily injury" <u>Mehl</u>, 17 FLW D1954 (Diamantis, J., concurring in result only). Judge Diamantis correctly refused to "subscribe to any suggestion that the legislature intended different requirements regarding the administration of blood tests under section 316.1932(1)(f) and sections 316.1933(2)(b) and $316.1934(3) \ldots$, depending on whether the method of blood testing is required to be 'adopted' or 'approved.'" <u>Id</u>. In fact, the legislative history surrounding the enactment of s. 316.1933 is devoid of any such intent.

The legislative history indicates that the legislature enacted s. 316.1933 in response to <u>State v. Rafferty</u>, 405 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). As the Senate Staff Comments reveal, the <u>Rafferty</u> court, relying on <u>Schmerber v. California</u>, 384 U.S. 757 (1966), "apparently authorized[d] the use of reasonable force to extract a blood sample for the purpose of drug testing if the arresting officer ha[d] probable cause to believe that the driver ha[d] been operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of controlled substances." Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, at 4 (Feb. 1, 1982) (comments) (attached). The legislature, thus, enacted s. 316.1933 to correspond to the <u>Rafferty</u> decision by authorizing the use of reasonable force to require a person to submit to administration of a blood test, notwithstanding any

previously recognized ability to refuse such a test under s. 316.1932.

The obvious conclusion to be drawn is the legislature's belief that, under certain circumstances, the use of reasonable force was justified to require a defendant to submit to blood testing. The triggering circumstance is the law enforcement officer's probable cause to believe that a motor vehicle in the control of a person driving under the influence has caused death or serious bodily injury. The legislature has in no way indicated, however, that this circumstance also justifies a more lenient standard of admissibility for the results of the blood test.

Until recently, the courts likewise have not drawn such a distinction. These courts have applied the standards of s. 316.1932 without discussing whether the blood was drawn pursuant to the request of a law enforcement officer based on probable cause. See, e.g., <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 19 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (reversing conviction for DUI manslaughter where trial court permitted evidence of blood test results in contravention of s. 316.1932(1)(f)2.); <u>State v. Roose</u>, 450 So.2d 861 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 451 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1984) (affirming order of suppression where blood sample was drawn by hospital intern not qualified under s. 316.1932(1)(f)2.); <u>Richwagon v. State</u>, 466 So.2d 10 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (affirming conviction even though nurse who drew blood at hospital was not yet registered nurse as required by s. 316.1932(1)(f)2.).

As Judge Diamantis suggested, s. 316.1933 does not exist

separate and apart from the implied consent provisions of s. 316.1932. This Court has recognized that the "implied consent law consists of sections 316.1932, 316.1933, and 316.1934." <u>Robertson</u>, 17 FLW at S457 n.4 (citing <u>State v. Strong</u>, 504 So.2d 758, 759 (Fla. 1987)).

In <u>State v. Strong</u>, supra, this Court stated that the provisions of s. 316.1932(1)(f)2. were "for the protection of drivers whom the government *requires* to give blood samples under the implied consent law." 504 So.2d at 759 (emphasis in original). The Defendant in the present case clearly was required to give a blood sample under the implied consent law, whether such sample was taken pursuant to s. 316.1932 or s. 316.1933.

In <u>Robertson</u>, supra, the Court recognized that the primary policies of the implied consent statute included (1) ensuring the use of reliable scientific evidence "by establishing uniform, approved procedures for testing" and (2) protecting the health of test subjects who by statute have given their implied consent to such tests. 17 FLW at S456. Surely, these interests exist whether the defendant impliedly consents or is forced to submit to administration of a blood test.

When the State can demonstrate that it has complied with the requirements of the implied consent statute in conducting blood tests pursuant thereto, a presumption arises that the results of such blood tests are admissible at trial. <u>Robertson</u> 17 FLW at S456. As the Supreme Court pointed out in <u>Robertson</u>, the State's failure to comply with the statute does not necessarily render

evidence of blood-alcohol test results inadmissible. <u>Id</u>. The State may still attempt to introduce the results using the threeprong predicate described by the Court in <u>State v. Bender</u>, 382 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1980).³ Under this circumstance, however, the State is not entitled to the benefits of the presumption afforded by the implied consent statute, and the State carries the burden of establishing the <u>Bender</u> requirements. <u>Robertson</u>, 17 FLW at S456.

In the case at bar, HRS has altogether failed to adopt rules approving methods to be followed in administering blood tests under the implied consent statute. The State, therefore, should not be afforded the presumption of admissibility which s. 316.1934(3) provides, but should be required to establish the traditional predicates under <u>Bender</u>, supra n.3.

Although the district court held that the State in this case should have been permitted to introduce the blood test results by establishing these traditional predicates, counsel for the Defendant have been unable to find where the State argued such a position at the hearing. (Tr 50-59) It appears, rather, that the State objected to the trial court's decision based on that court's refusal to find statutory compliance because of HRS's failure to adopt the required rules. It was only on appeal that the State argued it should have been allowed to offer the test results using standard evidentiary rules.

³The proper predicate must establish that "(1) the test was reliable, (2) the test was performed by a qualified operator with the proper equipment and (3) expert testimony was presented concerning the meaning of the test." <u>Bender</u>, 382 So.2d at 699.

In <u>Reisner</u>, supra, the district court indicated that the statutory presumption of admissibility was not available where the State attempted to apply a rule which had been formally promulgated but which was vague and ambiguous, or where the State attempted to apply a rule which had not been formally promulgated. 584 So.2d at 144-45. Similarly, the Defendant would maintain that the statutory presumption does not apply where HRS altogether fails to promulgate a rule as specifically mandated by the statute.

CONCLUSION

,

.

Based on the foregoing, the defendant respectfully requests this court to reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.