IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 11 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

Chief Deputy Clerk

By_

DAVID JOSEPH MEHL,

Petitioner,

ż٠

CASE NO. 80,492 5DCA CASE NO. 91-186

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANTHONY J. GOLDEN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #162172 210 N. Palmetto Ave. Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Facts and

Case

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The procedures set forth in Rules 10D-42.028 -- 10D-42.030 of the Florida Administrative Code sufficiently comply with the requirements of Sections 316.1932 through 316.1934, Florida Statutes (1989) to ensure the reliability and accuracy of the blood test results obtained pursuant thereto to allow for the admission of said blood test results in evidence in a criminal trial.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT REVERSING THE ORDER OF THE TRIAL COURT SUPPRESSING THE RESULTS OF THE TEST FOR THE ALCOHOL LEVEL IN PETITIONER'S BLOOD SHOULD BE APPROVED.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal set forth three distinct bases for reversing the order of the trial court suppressing the results of the test done on blood extracted from Petitioner to determine its blood alcohol content:

(1) HRS complied with the requirements of Section 316.1932(1)(f), Florida Statutes, by adopting the blood alcohol testing rules contained in Rules 10D-42.028 -- 10D-42.030 of the Florida Administrative Code;

(2) Regardless of compliance with Section 316.1932, the statutes that control the withdrawal of blood under the circumstances in this case are Sections 316.1933(2)(b) and 316.1934(3), Florida Statutes, which only require that the blood analysis be performed substantially in compliance with the methods approved by HRS, as was done in the instant case; and

(3) Even if the test results were inadmissible under Chapter 316, the State should have been afforded the opportunity to attempt to introduce the blood test results using traditional evidentiary techniques as suggested by this Court in <u>Robertson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 604 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1992) and <u>Miller v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 767 (Fla. 1991).

In concurring in the result only, Judge Diamantis found that a licensed operator, whose testing methods were approved by HRS

- 3 -

as part of the licensing procedure, performed the blood test on the defendant. He stated that there was absolutely no indication that the operator deviated from the approved testing method or that that method would not provide accurate results. He concluded that results were admissible under Sections the 316.1933(2)(b) and 316.1934(2)-(3)(1989) and 316.1932(1)(f), 10D-42.028 through 10D-42.030 of the Florida Rules under Administrative Code. He added that these test results would also be admissible if the State is able to satisfy the traditional predicates for admissibility as outlined in Robertson, supra.

Despite these multiple bases to support its holding, the District Court felt that this was an appropriate case to certify two related questions of great public importance to this Court, worded as follows:

> INTRODUCE CAN THE STATE INTO SECTION EVIDENCE PURSUANT TO 316.1934 BLOOD SAMPLE TESTS RESULTS EVEN THOUGH HRS HAS NOT ADOPTED GOVERNING TESTING RULES AND EQUIPMENT APPROVED MAINTENANCE OF FOR USE IN THE TESTING OF BLOOD SAMPLES?

> CAN THE STATE INTRODUCE INTO EVIDENCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.1934 BLOOD SAMPLE TEST RESULTS CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE HRS RULES PROMULGATED AS 10D-42.028, ET SEQ.?

The answers to these questions do not affect the propriety of the District Court's reversal of the suppression order because the District Court had also reversed the trial court's suppression order based upon the trial court's failure to afford the State the opportunity to introduce the blood test results using

- 4 -

traditional evidentiary techniques. In his brief, Petitioner concedes that such test results would be admissible under <u>Robertson</u> and <u>State v. Bender</u>, 382 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1980), if the State can establish the traditional predicates for admissibility. However, he argues that, since this issue did not arise at the suppression hearing, the State should be foreclosed from exercising this option at trial. He cites no authority for that proposition.

Despite that concession, Petitioner argues that, under Section 316.1932(1)(f)1, HRS must have adopted rules and regulations after public hearing providing an approved method for performing tests on blood samples drawn for purposes of the implied consent statute. "Substantial compliance", he argues, is the standard for determining whether the tests were administered in accordance with that approved method, not whether or not the rules were properly adopted. He contends that Rules 10D-42.028-.030 do not properly detail the procedure to be used in analyzing the blood samples.

These arguments were addressed by the District Court in the majority opinion and in the concurrence. The FDLE forensic chemist who performed the tests in this case testified that there are only two quantitative procedures authorized for tests on blood for alcohol content: alcohol dehydrogenase and gas chromatography. To qualify for a permit under Rule 10D-42.030, the technician must submit to HRS a complete description of the procedure he uses and he must satisfactorily analyze "proficiency samples". Such tests can only be performed by the permittee in a

- 5 -

laboratory facility. Every three months, the designated permittee is given control samples to test to insure the accuracy of his testing equipment and methodology. Each permit must be Unsatisfactory results on two of four renewed annually. consecutive test samples mandate automatic termination of the The District Court concluded that HRS has established a permit. procedure which insures the reliability of the tests performed it and that has complied with the mandate of Section 316.1932(1)(f)1 by adopting Rules 10D-42.028-.030.

The Court also cited Section 316.1934(3) for the proposition that the chemical analysis of a person's blood must be performed substantially in accordance with methods <u>approved</u> (not "adopted") by HRS and by a person possessing a valid HRS permit. The Court found that the FDLE forensic chemist who conducted the blood tests in this case did so using the specific method approved by HRS and held a valid permit. It concluded that the HRS procedure has been formally adopted in rules and that accuracy is assured through the approval of specific techniques and frequent quality control checks. The Court said:

> The record is devoid of any evidence that the testing done on blood by FDLE in compliance with these HRS rules is prone to inaccuracy or, indeed, that the HRS-approved technique has ever produced any inaccurate test result.

In his concurrence, Judge Diamantis said:

There is no indication that the operator deviated from the approved method or that the utilized method would not provide accurate results.

- 6 -

In State v. Burke, 599 S0.2d 1339 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), review denied Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 80,169 (Fla. November 12, 1992), the First District was confronted with substantially the same issues involved in this case. That Court cited this Court's opinion in State v. Donaldson, 579 So.2d 728 (Fla. 1991) in concluding that minor deviations from the statutory guidelines which do not contravene the statutory purpose will not prohibit the introduction of such test results. That Court found that whether HRS provided the approved procedure for testing the weight of alcohol in a defendant's blood by administrative rule or whether HRS approves the procedure proposed by the individual technician in his permit application, the purpose of the statute, ensuring reliable scientific evidence, was achieved and that discrepancy should not preclude the admission of the results of those tests.

The State would submit that, assuming this Court decides to accept jurisdiction over this matter, the questions certified should be answered as follows: Rules 10D-42.028 et seq. of the Florida Administrative Code sufficiently comply with the mandate of Section 316.1932(1)(f)1, Florida Statutes (1989) to allow the results of blood tests administered pursuant to these rules to be admissible into evidence.

- 7 -

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Respondent respectfully prays that if this Honorable Court accepts jurisdiction over this matter, it should answer the questions certified in the affirmative and approve the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the case subjudice.